No. 42210-1

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

No. 45052-6-11

JOSETTE TAYLOR as Personal Representative of the Estate of FRED E. TAYLOR, deceased; and on behalf of the Estate of FRED E. TAYLOR; and JOSETTE TAYLOR,

Appellants,

۷.

INTUITIVE SURGICAL, INC., a foreign corporation doing business in Washington,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 Shelby R. Lemmel, WSBA 33099 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 Attorney for Appellant

FILED IN COA ON SEPTEMBER 9, 2015

INTRODUCTION

Division Two held (2-1) that a manufacturer need not warn the purchasing hospital about the dangers of a complex surgical robot, even though the hospital must make the credentialing decision allowing a surgeon to use the robot on its patients. *Taylor v. Intuitive Surgical, Inc.*, Washington State Court of Appeals No. 45052-6-II (July 7, 2015), *recon. denied* (Aug. 10, 2015) (copies attached). This holding contradicts Washington's Products Liability Act, requiring manufacturers to provide adequate warnings *with the product*. RCW 7.72.030(1)(b). The only way to provide adequate warnings hospital, which communicated directly with the manufacturer (not through a doctor) and which owns this unavoidably unsafe medical device. Hospitals owe an independent duty of care to their patients to credential doctors safely. This Opinion is incorrect and dangerous to patients.

Whether negligence or strict liability applies to inadequatewarnings claims is also an open question, where the leading Opinion from this Court was 4-4. Any decision permitting an exception to strict liability in this context is incorrect and harmful: the Court should grant review to overrule it. This Court should also address other issues that Division two failed to address. *See* Mot. for Recon. (attached).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did ISI have a duty to warn and instruct Harrison Hospital, the purchaser of the unavoidably unsafe da Vinici robot, where Harrison was solely responsible for credentialing doctors to use it?

2. Did the trial court erroneously instruct the jury on negligence, rather than strict liability, for ISI's failures to warn and instruct?

3. Did the trial court erroneously instruct the jury to determine whether Dr. Bildsten's negligence was a superseding cause, where his negligence was a reasonably foreseeable consequence of ISI's failure to properly warn and instruct as a matter of law, and where the resulting harm was not different or independent?

4. Were the court's failure-to-mitigate instructions improper, where they instructed the jury: (a) not to include damages that could have been avoided, but also (b) to reduce damages by a percentage reflecting the failure to mitigate?

5. After an ISI employee testified that, aside from Taylor's surgery, the robotics program at Harrison was successful and that Harrison was purchasing a second robot, did the trial court err in refusing to allow Taylor to cross-examine witnesses on whether the robotics program was replete with problems?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Overview.

After discovering that he had prostate cancer in August 2008, Fred Taylor opted to have his prostate removed in a robotic laparoscopic procedure. RP 1067-68, 1145-48, 1916. Fred's surgeon, Dr. Scott Bildsten, had only recently completed robotics training, and was newly credentialed at Harrison Medical Center when he performed the surgery. RP 1060, 1662, 1664; CP 2309-2310. Harrison's robotics program was in its infancy. RP 1160.

Fred's procedure went horribly wrong, and it is undisputed that he suffered life-altering injuries as a result. See BA 29-34. As one friend succinctly put it, the operation "destroyed [Fred's] quality of life." RP 2093. The parties dispute whether the surgery hastened his death four years later. RP 1451.

Fred's widow asserted that Intuitive Surgical, Inc. ("ISI"), the manufacturer of the "da Vinci" robot used on Fred, misinformed and failed to adequately warn and instruct Harrison, which purchased the robot and credentialed Bildsten based on ISI's inaccurate and incomplete information. The Brief of Appellant fully explains how this tragedy came to pass. BA 5-34. A brief summary follows here.

B. The da Vinci robot is an unavoidably unsafe product that was never approved by the FDA.

ISI agrees that its robot is an "unavoidably unsafe product" under the WPLA. CP 110. And the FDA has never "approved" a da Vinci robot. RP 2709, 2712, 2723, 2741. In 1997, the FDA "cleared" the first da Vinci robot to hold certain instruments because it was "substantially equivalent to other types of products that held [such] instruments." RP 467-68. Obtaining clearance is far simpler, faster, and cheaper than obtaining approval. RP 491.

C. ISI obtained FDA "clearance" for prostatectomies by promising a four-phase comprehensive training program for surgeons wishing to operate using the robot.

ISI obtained 14 related FDA "clearances," including one for prostatectomies, by telling the FDA that it would provide a fourphase, comprehensive training program to surgeons wishing to use the device. RP 469, 1913; Ex 24, p.30. The specific phases were (1) a 70-question written test (RP 2625; CP 4631, 4634; Ex 10, p. 30; Ex 24, p. 31; (2) on-site and off-site training (RP 2625; Ex 10, p.31; Ex 24, p.31); (3) a series of drills using metrics to certify mastery (Ex 10, p. 31; Ex 24 p. 31-32); and (4) a self-directed learning curriculum using ISI's "standardized series of exercises" focusing on "surgical tasks" (Ex 10, p. 31; Ex 24, p. 32). ISI told the FDA that each of its training centers would "follow a standard curriculum and utilize standard performance assessment" before moving a surgeon through a phase, and that "[d]eficiencies [would] be identified and remediated." Ex 10 p. 30; RP 1923-25, 1928-29. ISI stated that it would "quantitatively asses[]" the surgical team's ability to use the robot using a Likert-type scale of one to five, and a "standard training checklist." RP 1924-25; Ex 13, p. 15.

ISI also told the FDA that surgeons should "meet basic and advanced laparoscopic requirements as outlined by private and/or academic organizations." RP 1915; Ex 20, p. 55. This was important, where robotic surgery is an extension of traditional laparoscopic surgery. RP 1915-16. A surgeon needs to have laparoscopic training in order to do robotic procedures. *Id.* Even a surgeon who is very experienced and confident in open procedures is not qualified to sit down and start doing a robotic procedure. RP 1911.

D. But ISI never delivered the promised training program.

By the time ISI was trying to sell Harrison a robot in 2008, it had abandoned the 70-question test for a 10-question test. CP 335, 4631. The entire Phase 1 distance-learning module took only one hour to complete. RP 2939-40. Although ISI told the FDA that "[c]ontinuation to Phase 2 is dependent upon successful completion

of Phase 1," ISI is not aware of anyone having ever failed the Phase 1 test. *Id.*; Ex 24 p. 31. It is impossible to fail. CP 4608-10.

ISI had also shortened off-site training to only one day, if (as here) only one member of the surgical team was training on the console. RP 2625-26; CP 4613, 4634-35. Despite its promise to use a "standardized Training Assessment tool," ISI had no "objective standard" to evaluate surgical duration. *Compare* Ex 24, p. 31, *with* RP 2627-28. ISI had dropped even a 1-to-5 scale, using no "standard performance assessment" in any Phase. CP 4652-54. It is unclear what, if anything, ISI did to evaluate the surgical team in Phase 3. *Id.* And despite its promise to provide a "standardized series of exercises" focusing on "surgical tasks," ISI had nothing to do with Phase 4, other than possibly referring a surgeon to an advanced training program. CP 4619-20; Ex 24, p.32.

By the time ISI sold a robot to Harrison, it used no standard performance assessment on any phase. CP 4621-22. Removing these assessments "made it dangerous" for patients. RP 1934-35. "[T]he foreseeable consequences of changing the program in this way" is that "[y]ou have surgeons who have not been adequately assessed if they could do the job." RP 1935. Regardless of any argument about surgical abilities, this is not sufficient training. *Id*.

E. ISI put its people on Harrison's credentialing committee, and advised it to allow surgeons to operate unsupervised after performing only two proctored procedures.

Although ISI maintained that credentialing is entirely up to hospitals, three of its employees sat on Harrison's steering committee – the group that recommended the credentialing requirements that Harrison adopted. RP 720. These included ISI's Clinical Sales Manager, Sean O'Connor, and ISI's Clinical Sales Representative, Damon Daniels. RP 720, 1640. ISI admitted that new purchasers depend on ISI's credentialing expertise. RP 714-15.

Indeed, ISI employees who worked directly with Harrison (and other customers) agreed that part of their job was to present themselves as partners in building a successful robotics program. RP 550, 657, 679-80, 1669, 1694; CP 4587-88; Ex 281, p. 5. Marketing materials extolled the virtues of partnering with ISI. CP 4584, 4587; Ex 48, p.2. And Daniels encouraged hospitals and surgeons to see him as a "leader" and an "expert." RP 1688.

Harrison asked for credentialing examples, and ISI provided some from local hospitals, claiming that the area average is to credential after only two proctored cases.¹ RP 714-16. Of course,

¹ ISI led Bildsten to believe that two proctored cases and ISI training would adequately prepare him to use the robot without supervision. RP 1036-37.

ISI also sold its robots to those hospitals. *See* RP 775-76, CP 4677-78. O'Connor gave Harrison ISI's "Clinical Pathway and Training Protocol For da Vinci Prostatectomy," purporting to lay out the steps to "ensure success in becoming a proficient robotic surgeon." Ex 511; RP 716, 840, 1036.² He agreed that Harrison would have understood this Clinical Pathway to recommend only two proctored procedures. Ex 511; RP 716. But O'Connor was unaware of any medical literature supporting that claim. RP 711-12.

F. Despite positioning itself on Harrison's credentialing committee," ISI misled Harrison about the learning curve.

An internal ISI document instructed sales reps to tell potential purchasers that "[t]here is a fairly short learning curve" RP 546; Ex 14, p. 2. The "learning curve" is the number of surgeries required to achieve "basic competency" on the robot. CP 5364-65. Put another way, "learning curve" refers to the time it takes a surgeon to gain the experience necessary to perform an "adequate robotic prostatectomy." RP 960.

In 2005, Drs. Herrell and Smith published an article titled "Robotic-Assisted Laparoscopic Prostatectomy: What Is The Learn

² This particular clinical pathway is for Bildsten's partner, Dr. Hedges. Bildsten's clinical pathway could not be found, but was the same. RP 1036.

Curve?" RP 803. Herrell was fellowship-trained in laparoscopic surgery, and Smith was well-recognized and highly-skilled in open prostatectomy. RP 1948-50. Herrell and Smith concluded that their robotic-surgery results were not comparable to routine open-surgery results until their team had completed 150 robotic prostatectomies. RP 804, 1948. "Surgeon comfort and confidence" was not comparable "until 250 robotic procedures." *Id.*

The article continues that hospitals considering a robotics program must consider that most surgeons "may never overcome the learning curve," where the median number of prostatectomies a urologist performs annually in the United States is only seven. RP 805-06, 1949. This is the only article that uses margin rates – cancer removal – as a basis for measuring the learning curve. RP 1949-50. This is, perhaps, the most important measure of a successful prostatectomy – "making sure you get all the cancer out. That's the number one thing the patient wants." RP 1949.

The Herrell and Smith article is consistent with a 2010 article published in the New England Journal of Medicine, considered to be the most prestigious medical journal. RP 984-85. The article concludes that it took between 150 and 250 robotic procedures to become "adept." RP 985. Although this article post-dates Fred's

procedure, there were many similar articles in 2008 talking about the steep learning curve in robotic procedures. *Id*.

In 2006, former ISI consultant Dr. Vip Patel reported that the learning curve for his surgical team was 20 to 25 cases. RP 567-69, 628, 1947. Patel is a highly respected leader in minimally invasive robotic surgery. RP 1947. Patel's "learning curve" is defined by good surgical times, low blood loss and transfusions, and few complications. RP 1947. Despite extensive laparoscopic training, Patel's team had a 1% complication rate, with two rectal injuries in his first 15 cases. RP 2004, 2060.

Defining "learning curve" solely as the number of surgeries necessary to complete a robotic prostatectomy in four hours, ISI consultant Dr. Ahlering reported that his team's learning curve was 8 to 12 cases. RP 557, 565, 630-32. Ahlering is a prolific expert in robotic prostatectomy and an accomplished open surgeon, but he was assisted by a "very accomplished" laparoscopic surgeon. CP 1942-43. But it took Ahlering's team 12 cases to perform a robotic prostatectomy in 4 hours. RP 1943-44.

And speed is not everything. RP 1944. Ahlering's team had one surgical complication in the first three procedures and two complications in the first nine procedures, a 22% complication rate.

RP 2052-53. And the team's margin rate (where cancer remained) was 30% to 35%. RP 1966, 2054.

But no one from ISI ever provided any of above information to Harrison. See BA 24-25.

G. Per ISI's recommendation, Harrison credentialed Dr. Bildsten after ISI training and two proctored procedures – Fred Taylor was his first unproctored robotic operation.

Bildsten completed ISI's reduced Phase 2 on July 17, 2008, and its reduced Phase 3 twelve days later. RP 1662. His two proctored procedures on July 28th and 29th lasted 10 hours and 7.5 hours. RP 1662-63; Ex 216. Although ISI thought these operative times were "long," it gave Bildsten only positive feedback. RP 1059.

Fred's procedure was five to six weeks later. RP 1060. This was Bildsten's first unproctored procedure. RP 1059-60. It took Bildsten and Daniels almost 1.5 hours to dock the robot, 2-to-3 times longer than it should take. RP 1074-75, 2357-58. After almost 8 hours, Bildsten could no longer proceed robotically, converting to an open procedure. RP 1079, 1287. Fred was in surgery for another 5 hours, totaling 13 hours in surgery. RP 1287. The surgery essentially destroyed Fred's quality of life. *See, e.g.*, BA 28-34.

REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW

Į.

A. The Court of Appeals dissent is correct on an issue of substantial importance to Washington citizens that substantially affects the interpretation of the WPLA.

Misinterpreting the WPLA presents an issue of substantial pubic interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Judge Worswick's dissent captures the heart of Taylor's argument, which the majority failed to address. See Motion for Recon. at 5-8. Put simply, since ISI admits that its robot is not reasonably safe (CP 110) it had to provide "adequate warnings or instructions" "with the product" (here, the robot sold to Harrison):

A product is not reasonably safe because **adequate warnings or instructions were not provided with the product**, if, at the time of manufacture, the likelihood that the product would cause the claimant's harm or similar harms, and the seriousness of those harms, rendered the warnings or instructions of the manufacturer inadequate and the manufacturer could have provided the warnings or instructions which the claimant alleges would have been adequate.

RCW 7.72.030(1)(b) (emphasis added). The only way for ISI to provide adequate warnings with the robot was to provide them *to the purchaser* – Harrison – with the product. Yet the trial court refused to instruct the jury that ISI had to provide adequate warnings and instructions to Harrison. BA 37-38. Under the WPLA's plain

language, this was clear error. BA 40-42. This Court should grant review to consider this important issue.

Instead of following this straightforward statutory analysis, ISI, the trial court, and the appellate majority, each improperly applied the learned intermediary doctrine to obviate ISI's duty to warn Harrison. BA 42-45. That doctrine states that when a patient can obtain a product or service only from a physician, "the physician acts as a 'learned intermediary' *between the manufacturer or seller and the patient.*" *Terhune v. A. H. Robins Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 9, 12-14, 577 P.2d 975 (1978) (emphasis added) (discussing RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 402A, hereinafter "§ 402A"). Therefore, the manufacturer or seller does not have a duty to warn the patient, but rather the doctor. *Id.* The doctor then has the duty – and is the only entity that has the duty – to warn the patient. *Id*.

But this doctrine says nothing about the statutory duty to provide necessary warnings and instructions "with the product" to the purchaser. RCW 7.72.030(1)(b). This case shows why these warnings are so important: Harrison is responsible for credentialing doctors, which is crucial to keeping patients safe. Harrison sets the floor – the minimum requirements to permit surgeons to use the

dangerous medical device. If the hospital is not adequately warned and instructed, it cannot safely set those requirements.

Judge Worswick (like Taylor) correctly asserts that the learned intermediary doctrine cannot apply here because the physician does not stand between the manufacturer and the hospital:

While a physician is the gatekeeper between the manufacturer and the unwarned patient, a physician is not a gatekeeper between the manufacturer and the unwarned *hospital* because the physician does not use independent judgment to determine which medical products a hospital should receive and what information a hospital needs to know about those products. [Emphasis in original.]

Dissent at 21. Inserting a learned intermediary between a manufacturer and a purchasing hospital has no sound basis in law. And even if the doctrine could apply here, the hospital itself (not a doctor) would be the learned intermediary. *See* BA 46-48.

It also puts patients at risk. That is, if ISI has no duty to warn the hospital about the risks of using its robot, and about the learning curve necessary before doctors should be credentialed to use that device, untrained doctors anxious to gain experience on the machine may obtain unfettered access to the hospital's patients. This Court should grant review to determine whether manufacturers still have a duty under the WPLA to warn product purchasers, where (as here) those warnings are the *only* means to ensure that hospitals can make sound, independent judgments about which doctors should be permitted to use the devices they purchase in providing quality care to their patients.

There is no question under Washington law that hospitals owe an independent duty of care to their patients.³ But hospitals cannot meet this duty to their patients if they are not properly warned about cutting-edge technologies so that they can properly credential their doctors on them. This Court should grant review to consider this important issue.

B. This Court should accept review to finally resolve whether and how comment k applies to § 402A inadequate-warning claims and to overrule incorrect and harmful precedents.

The trial and appellate courts erred in ruling that negligence, rather than strict liability, governs Taylor's inadequate-warnings claim. This turns on (1) whether RESTATEMENT OF TORTS (SECOND) § 402A, comment k, applies at all to inadequate-warning claims,

³ See, e.g., **Douglas v. Freeman**, 117 Wn.2d 242, 248, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991) ("The doctrine of corporate negligence . . . is based on a nondelegable duty that a hospital owes directly to its patients. One commentary finds four such duties owed by a hospital under the doctrine of corporate negligence: . . . (2) to furnish the patient . . . equipment free of defects; [and] (3) to select its employees with reasonable care") (citations omitted)); **Pedroza v. Bryant**, 101 Wn.2d 226, 236, 677 P.2d 166 (1984) ("The hospital's liability is based on a duty of care owed by the institution directly to patients to ensure their safety and welfare while within its confines" (citation omitted)).

despite its language requiring that proper directions and warnings are provided; and if not, (2) whether courts should apply a productby-product inquiry to determine whether a particular prescription drug or medical device should be exempt from strict liability. The Court should accept review to resolve these important questions.

In *Falk v. Keene*, the Court held that under RCW 7.72.030(1)(a), strict liability, not ordinary negligence, is the standard for design-defect claims. 113 Wn.2d 645, 654, 782 P.2d 974 (1989). Following *Falk* in *Ayers v. Johnson & Johnson Baby Prods. Co.*, the Court held that strict liability is also the standard in subsection (b) governing inadequate-warning claims. 117 Wn.2d 747, 762-63, 818 P.2d 1337 (1991). And in *Anderson v. Weslo, Inc.*, this Court held that "[t]he standard for allegations of defective design and of inadequate warnings is one of strict liability." 79 Wn. App. 829, 836, 906 P.2d 336 (1995)). This is consistent with § 402A, which imposes strict liability on manufacturers and sellers of defective products. Strict liability is the correct standard.

By its express terms, comment *k*'s exemption from strict liability applies only when the seller has satisfied a very important predicate – the product was "properly prepared and marketed" and "accompanied by proper directions and warning." § 402A, cmt *k*.

Thus, comment k simply cannot apply to inadequate-warning claims. None of this Court's decisions compels a different result.

There are four major Washington Supreme Court cases addressing comment *k*, beginning with *Terhune*, *supra*. This Court held that the manufacturer of the Dalkon Shield, a contraceptive device, would not be liable for injuries caused by its product if it gave adequate warnings to the prescribing physician. 90 Wn.2d at 9, 13-14. In other words, *Terhune* adopted the learned intermediary doctrine. *Id.* at 14.

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