RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 21, 2015, 3:19 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 92210-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOSETTE TAYLOR as Personal Representative of the Estate of FRED E. TAYLOR, deceased; and on behalf of the Estate of FRED E. TAYLOR; and JOSETTE TAYLOR,

Petitioners,

VS.

INTUITIVE SURGICAL, INC., a foreign corporation doing business in Washington,

Respondent.

INTUITIVE SURGICAL'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

That duty argument certainly raises a legal causation question, given the attenuated and speculative causal chain it asks this Court to accept. Kim v. Budget Renta-Car Systems, Inc., 143 Wn.2d 190, 204, 15 P.3d 1283 (2001) (legal causation is not met if the connection between the ultimate result and the defendant's act is too remote or insubstantial to impose liability).

(c) <u>Prudential Reasons Dictate that Review Is</u> <u>Inappropriate in This Case</u>

In addition to the fact that Taylor lacks standing to raise an issue of an independent duty to warn that might be owed by Intuitive to Harrison, there are significant prudential reasons that should deter this Court from granting review.

First, there is no evidence supporting Taylor's proposed instructions on a duty to warn Harrison. ¹⁴ Taylor did not call any witnesses from Harrison to present testimony as to how Intuitive's alleged failure to warn or train Harrison staff about the da Vinci System caused Fred Taylor's injuries. Taylor's theory on appeal appears to be that Intuitive should somehow have warned Harrison not to purchase a da Vinci System or not to credential Dr. Bildsten personally, or that Intuitive should have controlled Harrison's credentialing program. ¹⁵ Taylor

¹⁴ It is not error to deny a jury instruction where there is no substantial evidence upon which to base it. Ramey v. Knorr, 130 Wn. App. 672, 689, 124 P.3d 314, 323 (2005); Lofgren v. W. Washington Corp. of Seventh Day Adventists, 65 Wn.2d 144, 148, 396 P.2d 139, 141 (1964). Mere speculation is insufficient to support an instruction; it must be demonstrated by the evidence.

Taylor's implication in the petition at 7 that Intuitive "controlled" Harrison's committee on robotic surgery is simply false. Intuitive staff discussed credentialing with hospitals, providing information, RP 712-16, but the ultimate credentialing standards of a hospital were "really none of our business." RP 717. See also, RP 717-18. Dr. Bildsten was a voting member of Harrison's committee on robotic surgery technology; Intuitive's employees simply attended the meetings and provided information. RP 1035, 1695, 2484-85.

Taylor also repeats the blatantly false assertion that Intuitive allegedly told Harrison that two proctored cases would suffice for credentialing. Pet. at 7-8. Intuitive

adduced no evidence at trial from any Harrison witness to support this theory that warnings to Harrison would have had any effect on Harrison's purchasing or credentialing decisions. Taylor's argument ultimately is mere speculation, which is another reason why the trial court properly rejected the theory.

Second, the proposed instructions on an independent duty to warn Harrison are incorrect statements of Washington law in any event. Taylor's proposed instructions 12 and 28 state that the WPLA imposes a duty on Intuitive in a product liability case to train Harrison's professional staff in the use of its product. A duty to train by the manufacturer is nowhere recognized in WPLA, and specifically rejected in other jurisdictions. Br. of Resp't at 25-32. These instructions incorrectly expanded the WPLA's duty to warn, and the trial court was not obligated to give them as they erroneously stated the law. Havens, supra.

Finally, any alleged error in this case as to an independent duty to warn Harrison was ultimately harmless where Dr. Bildsten warned Fred

has repeatedly noted in pleadings in the Court of Appeals that this is false. A surgeon's learning curve was variable, individual to that surgeon. RP 1983. Intuitive told Harrison how other hospitals set their credentialing requirements, which varied. RP 713-17, 721. Intuitive reminded hospitals that it is a hospital's responsibility for deciding privileges and credentials for its surgeons. Taylor presented no evidence at trial from a Harrison

employee about what their credentialing standards were "based on," nor any discussion of Harrison's evaluation of the information provided by Intuitive. Intuitive did not state that two proctored surgeries were sufficient. Instead, Intuitive recommended two proctored surgeries or hospital protocol. RP 1036, 1656, 1729.

Taylor in detail regarding the risks of robotically-assisted surgery and secured his informed consent to the surgery. In turn, Intuitive specifically warned Dr. Bildsten, like all other surgeons who were trained in the use of the da Vinci System, about the risks of robotically-assisted surgery generally and on patients such as Fred Taylor in specific; the jury exonerated Intuitive for any liability for failure to warn Dr. Bildsten. As noted *supra*, Taylor argued the same warnings were due Harrison as were due to Dr. Bildsten. There was no evidence at trial that any different or additional warnings to Harrison would have changed the outcome. Such a theory is mere speculation, and the trial court properly rejected Taylor's proposed jury instructions regarding a failure to warn or train Harrison. Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

(2) The Trial Court Properly Applied a Negligence Standard,
Rather than Strict Liability, to the Duty to Warn a Learned
Intermediary

Taylor claims that strict liability, rather than negligence, ¹⁷ governs Intuitive's duty to warn, contending that this Court has somehow "left

¹⁶ Br. of Resp't at 32-33; RCW 4.36.240 (error must affect substantial rights of parties); *State v. Britton*, 27 Wn.2d 336, 341, 178 P.2d 341 (1947) (harmless error is error that "is trivial, or formal, or merely academic; and was not prejudicial to substantial rights of the party assigning it, and in no way affected the final outcome of the case.").

Taylor has never argued on appeal that substantial evidence did not support the jury's verdict on negligence with regard to the warnings and training given to Dr. Bildsten.

open" the question of whether a negligence standard applies. Pet. at 15-20. The Court of Appeals here unanimously disagreed. Taylor misrepresents Washington law that clearly provides that negligence, not strict liability, governs the duty to warn a learned intermediary about a medical product. Instruction 11 was based on WPI 110.02.01, and is a correct statement of the negligence standard in a medical device case. CP 5398.

Taylor suggests that this Court has not yet decided whether the Restatement's comment k applies to "defective warning" claims. Taylor is simply wrong. It has. The holding in Rogers v. Miles Labs., Inc., 116 Wn.2d 195, 802 P.2d 1346 (1991) is clear and is the basis for a pattern instruction, WPI 110.02.01. The Rogers court held that an inadequate failure to warn claim relating to an unavoidably unsafe product is a negligence claim, not strict liability. Id. at 207. The Court explicitly resolved the question of whether strict liability or negligence applied; it had to rule on the issue of the standard for inadequate warnings in doing so. Id. Taylor's attempt to argue that Rogers' holding was dictum because it only addressed design defects actually concedes that this Court

Courts in other states hold that a negligence standard applies in warning learned intermediaries about unavoidably unsafe products. See, e.g., Hahn v. Richter, 673 A.2d 888 (Pa. 1996).

Instruction 11 is also incorrectly stated that Intuitive had a duty to train, which again is unsupported in law. Despite this error, Intuitive prevailed at trial.

there impliedly determined that warnings were at issue.

Moreover, *Rogers* does not state that the plaintiffs alleged only design defect claims and not inadequate warning claims. In fact, after the *Rogers* court explicitly resolved the inadequate warning issue, it determined that the federal court had to resolve the plaintiffs' negligence claims, acknowledging that there was a duty to warn issue remaining. *Id.* The inadequate warning holding in *Rogers* is not dictum.²⁰ The *Rogers* holding has been good law for 23 years.

In addition to discounting *Rogers'* holding as dictum, Taylor tries to avoid *Rogers* on multiple other grounds. Pet. at 17-19. *None* of these arguments is persuasive as to why review is warranted.

Taylor references the fact that *Rogers* adopted the reasoning of a California case, and *incorrectly* claims that the adopted reasoning was later "clarified" in California. Pet. at 18. That California case is still good law there.²¹

When an interpretation of a rule of law is essential to a court's decision, it is not dictum. Wagg v. Estate of Dunham, 146 Wn.2d 63, 73, 42 P.3d 968 (2002). The term "dictum" refers to statements that have no bearing on the court's decision. In the Matter of the Marriage of Rideout, 150 Wn.2d 337, 354, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003).

²¹ In fact, in Anderson v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp., 53 Cal.3d 987, 1000, 810 P.2d 549, 281 Cal. Rptr. 528 (1991), the California Supreme Court has reaffirmed the case that Taylor says is no longer the law in California, Brown v. Superior Court, 44 Cal.3d 1049, 751 P.2d 470, 245 Cal. Rptr. 412 (1988). In Anderson, the court noted that confusion had surrounded Brown about whether its holding was limited to prescription drug cases, in which negligence is the controlling principle of liability. Id. at 999. The Anderson court also clarified that "Brown clearly implied that knowledge is also a

Seeking another method to discount *Rogers*, Taylor references this Court's decision in *Young v. Pharmaceuticals*, 130 Wn.2d 160, 168, 922 P.2d 59 (1996) which *affirmed Rogers*. Pet. at 17-18. Taylor tries to discount the controlling opinion in *Young* as "not binding" and of "limited precedential value," but nevertheless, relies on the Young dissent repeatedly. *Id.* at 18.

It is understandable that Taylor would like to ignore Young, because it reaffirms Rogers that under comment k, inadequate warning claims are negligence claims. 130 Wn.2d at 168. However, the Young dissent did not deny that Rogers found precisely what the controlling plurality opinion described: "I agree with the majority that Rogers indeed considered the question and reached the attributed conclusion." Id. at 180-81 (Madsen, J., dissenting). Taylor concedes that Young holds that negligence is the test for warning cases. Pet. at 17. In fact, because both the Young majority and the dissent agreed that Rogers concluded that under comment k inadequate warning claims are negligence claims, that

component of strict liability for failure to warn in cases other than prescription drug cases." Id. at 1000 (emphasis added). Anderson did not overrule Brown, or even call it into question. Anderson relied on Brown's reasoning that even in strict liability failure to warn cases, the plaintiff must prove that the manufacturer knew of the risks. Id. Moreover, Anderson is not a comment k case, and Brown is. Anderson, 53 Cal.3d at 1008 (Mosk, A.J., concurring and dissenting) ("We emphatically declared in Brown that 'there is an important distinction between prescription drugs and other products..."). Any difference in the analysis between Anderson and Brown is not a product of a change in the California Supreme Court's reasoning, but the difference between comment k cases and traditional strict liability cases. Id.

particular conclusion was reached unanimously by the Young court.²²

Finally, Division I in Estate of La Montagne v. Bristol-Meyers Squib, 127 Wn. App. 335, 343-44, 111 P.3d 857 (2005) had no difficulty in understanding that the rule in Rogers and Young applied.²³ Taylor concedes that La Montagne applies a negligence standard by asking this Court to overrule it. Pet. at 19.²⁴

Although Rogers, Young, and La Montagne have long interpreted the WPLA to apply a negligence standard in duty to warn cases under comment k of the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A, the Legislature has taken no steps to override such an interpretation, acquiescing in that interpretation of its statute.²⁵

In a plurality opinion, the holding of the court is the position of the justices concurring on the narrowest grounds. *Davidson v. Hensen*, 135 Wn.2d 112, 128, 954 P.2d 1327 (1998), a point not addressed by Taylor.

The negligence standard has also been recognized by federal courts in Washington. E.g., Laisure-Radke v. Par Pharmaceutical, Inc., 426 F. Supp.2d 1163, 1171 (W.D. Wash. 2006).

The Legislature is presumed to be aware of judicial interpretations not only of its own enactments, but also the common law. City of Federal Way v. Koenig, 167 Wn.2d 341, 350-51, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009). The Legislature's failure to change the common law or to amend the WPLA following a judicial decision interpreting it indicates legislative acquiescence in that decision. Soproni v. Polygon Apartment Partners, 137 Wn.2d 319, 327 n.3, 971 P.2d 500, 512 (1999) (ruling that Legislature acquiesced in Court's interpretation of design defect cases under the WPLA). The Legislature has not seen fit to change the common law or to amend the WPLA to reverse the rule that comment k inadequate warning claims sound in negligence since this Court decided

Taylor finally makes the strange argument that Rogers is not controlling because a case-by-case analysis of whether a product is unavoidably unsafe should be applied to the da Vinci System. Pet. at 19-20. But Taylor's argument is perplexing precisely because this Court has already ruled that comment k is applicable to medical products, including medical devices like the da Vinci System. Terhune, 90 Wn.2d at 17 (intrauterine contraceptive device). 26 Taylor neglects to reference Terhune on this point, and the case Taylor cites in support of her contention, this Court's decision in Guzman v. Amvac Chemical Corp., 141 Wn.2d 493, 7 P.3d 795 (2005) does not support her position. There, this Court specifically noted that comment k is "especially applicable to medical devices." Id. at 508. It recognized a "blanket exemption" for medical products. Id. at 511. Contrary to Taylor's argument, there is no need for a case-by-case analysis of whether comment k applies to a medical device like a robotic surgical system. This Court's decisions in Terhune and Guzman say that it does. Apparently, Taylor wants to overrule Terhune and Guzman.

There is no factual dispute that the da Vinci System is an

Rogers and Young, and Division I decided La Montagne, confirming the applicability of that rule.

²⁶ See also, May v. Dafoe, 25 Wn. App. 575, 611 P.2d 1274, review denied, 93 Wn.2d 1030 (1980) (infant incubator); Adams v. Synthen Spine Co. LP, 298 F.3d 1114 (9th Cir. 2002) (surgically implanted spinal plate).

unavoidably unsafe product as described in comment k and *Terhune*. Taylor seeks a general ruling regarding medical devices and comment k, when the specific medical device at issue here undisputedly qualifies. This Court should deny review. RAP 13.4(b).

E. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the trial court did not commit prejudicial error in its instructions to the jury on Intuitive's duty to warn under the WPLA. The trial court properly rejected Taylor's proposed instructions designed to allow her a claim for Intuitive's alleged breach of a duty to warn or train Harrison. The trial court also properly instructed the jury to apply a negligence standard, rather than strict liability.

Taylor received a fair trial based on exceedingly favorable jury instructions and still did not prevail. Taylor simply failed to persuade the jury that Intuitive was culpable for Fred Taylor's injuries given Dr. Bildsten's negligent patient selection despite adequate warnings, and the injury he caused to Taylor during his surgery was unrelated to any action by Intuitive.

This Court should deny review.